## UNIVERSITY LIBRARIES

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

5-1-2024

# Promoting Positive Dementia Attitudes Through Occupational Engagement: The Development of a Dementia Awareness Program for Community Older Adults

Cynthia Lee

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

Part of the Occupational Therapy Commons

#### **Repository Citation**

Lee, Cynthia, "Promoting Positive Dementia Attitudes Through Occupational Engagement: The Development of a Dementia Awareness Program for Community Older Adults" (2024). UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 5026. http://dx.doi.org/10.34917/37650850

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself.

This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

# PROMOTING POSITIVE DEMENTIA ATTITUDES THROUGH OCCUPATIONAL ENGAGEMENT: THE DEVELOPMENT OF A DEMENTIA AWARENESS PROGRAM FOR COMMUNITY OLDER ADULTS

By

Cynthia Y. Lee

Bachelor of Science -- Kinesiological Sciences University of Nevada, Las Vegas 2021

A doctoral projected submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Occupational Therapy Doctorate

Department of Brain Health School of Integrated Health Sciences The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas May 2024 Copyright by Cynthia Y. Lee, 2024

All Rights Reserved



### **Doctoral Project Approval**

The Graduate College The University of Nevada, Las Vegas

May 3, 2024

This doctoral project prepared by

Cynthia Lee

entitled

Promoting Positive Dementia Attitudes Through Occupational Engagement: The Development of a Dementia Awareness Program for Community Older Adults

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Occupational Therapy Doctorate Department of Brain Health

Donnamarie Krause, Ph.D. *Graduate Coordinator* 

Jefferson Kinney, Ph.D. *Graduate Program Chair* 

Alyssa Crittenden, Ph.D. Vice Provost for Graduate Education & Dean of the Graduate College

#### Abstract

**Purpose:** This capstone project explored the effects of adding occupational engagement into a dementia awareness program on attitudes toward dementia among community-dwelling older adults, aiming to challenge dementia myths and promote an inclusive environment through occupational therapy perspectives.

**Methods:** This project used a pre-test, post-test design with convenience sampling to develop and assess a dementia awareness program based on insights from Silverado Red Rock Memory Care Community and participation from members of the Osher Lifelong Learning Institute (OLLI) at the University of Nevada, Las Vegas in the program. Changes in positive attitudes toward dementia were measured using the Dementia Attitudes Scale (DAS). Participants also completed a feedback form regarding their insights upon completing the program. The feedback was reviewed through thematic analysis and identification of positive keywords, phrases, and direct quotations.

**Results**: A Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test on the DAS showed a non-significant increase from a pre-program average of 102.33 (SD=14.59) to a post-program average of 104.75. However, upon completion of the program, five participants showed an upward trend toward more positive attitudes, which was also reflected in their feedback forms.

**Conclusion**: While the total scores of the Dementia Attitude Scale (DAS) did not significantly differ between pre and post-program assessment, qualitative feedback indicated a positive program reception, suggesting a beneficial impact on attitudes toward dementia.

iii

#### Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Samantha John, PhD, whose guidance and advice have been instrumental throughout this capstone project. My sincere thanks also go to Dr. Chih-Huang Yu, PhD, for his invaluable support and counsel to ensure a successful capstone experience. Both Dr. John and Dr. Yu have been incredibly supportive and pivotal to my professional growth and learning.

I am also grateful to my site mentors, Robert Levrant, the director of the Osher Lifelong Learning Institute, and Karmella Bognot, OTD, OTR/L, the Nexus Program Director for Silverado Red Rock Memory Care, for their knowledge and preparation for my success at both sites. Their mentorship has enriched my understanding and perspective in ways I aim to apply as I start my professional career.

Lastly, I wish to acknowledge the students at the Osher Lifelong Learning Institute and the residents at Silverado Red Rock Memory Care. Both the residents and students have been incredibly supportive during my time there and have enriched not only my professional interests but also my journey. The opportunity to engage with them has been a privilege and a highlight of my capstone experience.

Thank you all for your support, knowledge, and patience, which have been the zenith of my learning experience.

iv

#### Dedication

This capstone project mirrors the essence of those who have shaped me into who I am today. Thank you to Keisha, who has been my cheerleader since our high school days. Your encouragement and unwavering support have been a constant source of strength.

I owe a debt of gratitude to the support system I have found in this program. Andrew, Erik, Lester, Jerome, Jina, and Tashia. Each one of you has graciously included me in your significant moments and trusted me with your vulnerable ones. As we move forward, I cherish the hope that we will create more treasured memories to build upon the ones we have made thus far.

Thank you a million times over, George, for your unwavering patience and support. You have seen the best and worst of it all, and there is no one I would instead share that with. Your support, ranging from your advice to your unfailing humor, knows no bounds and means more than words can express, especially at times when I needed it most.

I owe a huge thank you to my grandparents. In every person I encounter, I find traces of you both, and it is through both of your influences that my capacity for compassion and care keeps expanding.

And finally, to my mom, the backbone of my existence. Your compassion and understanding have been my haven. This capstone project and all my future endeavors within my profession are dedicated to you. In moments of uncertainty, I am comforted by the thought of the unwavering love and support that has been generously bestowed upon me. From the depths of my heart, thank you.

V

Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Dedication	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Definitions	ix
Introduction	
Statement of the Problem	
Literature Review	
Knowledge and Attitudes Toward Dementia	
Dementia Awareness Programs	9
Occupational Engagement	
Statement of Purpose	
Theoretical Frameworks	
Methodology	
Project Design and Measures	
Settings	
Target population and Recruitment	
Procedures	
Ethical and Legal Considerations	
Results	
Participant Characteristics	
Data from the Dementia Awareness Scale	

### **Table of Contents**

Frequency of Keyword Occurrences by Question	
Discussion	
Quantitative Results from the DAS	
Qualitative Findings from the Feedback Surveys	
Limitations and Assumptions	40
Conclusion	42
Implications for Research	42
Implications for Practice	
Future Implications for OT	
Appendix A	44
Appendix B	
Appendix C	49
Appendix D	50
Appendix E	
Appendix F	59
Appendix G	64
Appendix H	70
Appendix I	73
Appendix J	
References	80
Curriculum Vitae	

### List of Tables

Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of Sample 28	3
Table 2: Results from Dementia Attitudes Scale Pre- and Post-Dementia Awareness Program . 30	)
Table 4: Frequency of Keyword Occurrences by Question	2
Table 5: Identified Themes in Feedback Survey Responses 33	3

#### **List of Definitions**

Alzheimer's Disease. The most common type of dementia affecting parts of the brain that control thought, memory, and behavior (Alzheimer's Association, 2023)

Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias (ADRD). Refers to the most common forms of dementia, including Alzheimer's Disease, frontotemporal degeneration, Lewy body dementia, vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia, and mixed-etiology dementias (National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, 2023)

**Dementia**. A collective term for symptoms including memory loss and cognitive decline, which significantly interfere with daily life, leading to a progressive deterioration of cognitive abilities and independence (Alzheimer's Association, 2023)

**Dementia attitudes.** Refers to the perceptions, beliefs, and behaviors that individuals and society hold toward people with dementia

**Dementia awareness.** The level of being informed and understanding dementia, its causes, symptoms, and influences of effects

**Dementia knowledge.** Refers to the person's knowledge and familiarity with dementia **Occupation.** The activities that people do in their everyday lives, as individuals, in families, or in communities providing meaning or purpose to their life (AOTA, 2020)

**Occupational engagement.** The active involvement, participation, or performance of occupation (AOTA, 2020)

**Stigma.** The social experience that refers to the perception of others that deem an individual is deviant from the societal norms (Chang & Hsu, 2020)

ix

#### Introduction

In 2020, more than 55 million individuals worldwide were affected by dementia (World Health Organization, 2023). The projections show a significant rise in the number of people who will have dementia in the coming years. Projections are expected to nearly double every two decades, reaching around 78 million by 2030 and 139 million by 2050. This increase is primarily due to the global aging population, which will result in a significant and rapid growth in dementia prevalence. Annual global societal costs are estimated at \$1313.4 billion for the approximately 55 million people living with dementia (Wimo et al., 2023). The significant financial burden imposed by dementia highlights the urgent need for effective interventions and increased awareness. Currently, interventions and treatments related to dementia care are primarily focused at the secondary and tertiary levels. At these levels, dementia has already dominated many aspects of the individual's and their families' lives. However, public health initiatives have pushed for tools such as early detection, reducing risky health behaviors, and community partnerships to mitigate the future impact of dementia. Given the public health concern, addressing dementia at both the community and primary level can have a practical, wider-scale approach. Addressing the issue at the public level not only focuses on the individual but also considers the broader societal context, thereby aiming to create a more dementiafriendly society.

Dementia is an umbrella term for a range of neurological disorders resulting in a gradual decline in cognitive function over time (Alzheimer's Association, 2023). This progressive change mainly impacts cognitive areas such as memory, language, and executive functions, resulting in an escalation in disease severity and a subsequent loss of independence (Lespinasse et al., 2023). The progression of Alzheimer's disease is a continuum. Individuals can move from

normal cognition to preclinical Alzheimer's disease without any noticeable biological changes in the brain (Sperling et al., 2011). This stage can subsequently evolve into mild cognitive impairment, showing mild symptoms of Alzheimer's disease but not severe enough to interfere with daily activities.

Alzheimer's disease and related dementias (ADRD) encompass common forms of dementia, including frontotemporal dementia, Lewy body dementia, vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia, and mixed-etiology dementias (National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, 2023). In particular, Alzheimer's disease, the most prevalent form of dementia, leads to issues with memory, thinking, language, and behavior. As Alzheimer's disease worsens, it can cause significant declines in memory, language abilities, and executive functioning, leading to a loss of independence and challenges in carrying out activities of daily living (ADLs). In severe cases, individuals with ADRD may struggle to recognize their family and friends. Traditionally, these symptoms are managed with pharmacological interventions, but therapeutic strategies are proving integral to comprehensive care and for delaying functional impairment (McLaren et al., 2013).

Occupational therapy (OT) can provide practical solutions for individuals living with dementia and their caregivers at the community level. This community-based approach incorporates the fundamental principles of individual interventions, such as promoting independence, engaging in meaningful activities, and enhancing quality of life. However, it does so with a focus on the cost-effectiveness of community interventions (Wenborn et al., 2016). Although researchers have explored the role of occupational therapy in improving the quality of life for individuals with dementia, the focus has primarily been on implementing secondary

interventions after a determined diagnosis. This post-diagnostic approach underutilizes the potential for occupational therapy to have a preventative role in dementia care.

There is a significant opportunity to expand the scope of occupational therapy to include educational initiatives about dementia outside of traditional care settings and before the onset of dementia (Maclean et al., 2022). Integrating the concept of occupational engagement into these educational strategies not only aligns with promoting healthy aging but also ensures that interventions are personally meaningful to each individual. By engaging in activities that resonate with their interests and life experiences, individuals can foster a sense of purpose and belonging. This approach not only benefits individuals living with dementia by enriching their daily lives but also aids in building a more informed and inclusive community. Such proactive engagement helps cultivate an environment where understanding and support for dementia are enhanced well before the typical onset of symptoms.

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Negative attitudes toward and stigmatization of dementia are a pervasive problem that impacts individuals, their families, and communities (Nguyen & Li, 2020). Stigma can be presented in the form of public fear and the negative perception of dementia from healthcare providers and patients. Negative stereotypes include perceiving those with dementia as dangerous and incompetent in the community. Misconceptions about dementia reflect a general lack of knowledge of dementia among the public, contributing to negative health behaviors, such as reluctance to undergo cognitive screenings or engagement in lifestyle choices that increase the risk of dementia (Kim et al., 2022). Other misconceptions can feature the assumption that dementia is a normal part of aging (Cahill et al., 2015; Cheston et al., 2016). The abundance of misconceptions in the attitudes of older adults toward dementia highlights the need for interventions addressing dementia and improving awareness (Rosenberg et al., 2020).

Occupational therapy interventions for health promotion and prevention can be applied at both individual and societal levels (AOTA, 2020). These interventions aim to enhance the quality of life of clients in their chosen environment and context. Health promotion programs focus on prevention or reduction in illness, promotion of mental health and quality of life, and promotion of healthy living practices and communities. Such programs operate at primary, secondary, and tertiary levels. Occupational therapy practice primarily focuses on secondary and tertiary levels, which involve environmental modifications, assistive devices, and compensatory strategies (McGrath et al., 2014). Although these strategies may cater to individualized needs, community interventions are equally important for individuals and their families affected by dementia to receive sufficient support (Hynes et al., 2016). Therefore, occupational therapy

interventions that target health promotion at the primary level are essential to promote overall health and well-being, both at the individual and societal levels.

The pursuit of value, meaning, balance, and identity development through social and environmental interactions is at the core of occupational engagement (Black et al., 2019). For community-dwelling older adults, participation in various occupations and activities is encouraged to support their health. As cognitive decline emerges as a significant issue among many older adults, examining how specific occupations may act as protective factors or potentially pose risks in the community becomes essential. Additionally, older adults can benefit from learning strategies that facilitate their engagement in various occupations (Leland & Elliot, 2012). Despite the need to address occupational engagement, there is a noticeable absence of programs that integrate occupations into dementia awareness or prevention initiatives. This gap raises an important question: Can a dementia awareness program that includes occupational engagement concepts improve positive attitudes about dementia among older adults in the community?

This capstone project was designed to answer this question by developing an integrated dementia awareness program that incorporates occupational engagement concepts. Through this initiative, the program not only addresses the existing stigma associated with dementia but also fosters empathy and cultivates a more inclusive and informed societal perspective. Ultimately, it aims to transform how older adults perceive and interact with dementia, potentially reshaping community attitudes and improving the quality of life for those affected.

#### **Literature Review**

The literature review highlights three key themes. The first theme explores the knowledge and attitudes surrounding dementia. The second theme examines dementia awareness programs designed to reshape these attitudes. The last section discusses occupational engagement in older adults and individuals living with dementia. Finally, the literature review synthesizes these critical elements, demonstrating their interconnected roles in the successful development of an effective dementia awareness program.

#### **Knowledge and Attitudes Toward Dementia**

The perception of dementia is affected by social constructs that significantly shape attitudes toward the condition. Dementia knowledge encompasses an understanding of its etiology, diagnosis, symptoms, behaviors, and management (Carpenter et al., 2009). Healthcare professionals generally exhibit low to moderate levels of knowledge, impacting the quality of dementia education provided to patients (Chang & Hsu, 2020; Lawler et al., 2021). This trend is mirrored in the lay public, particularly in low-to-middle-income countries, where levels of dementia knowledge also tend to be low to moderate (Cahill et al., 2015). This lack of understanding often stems from the widespread misconception that dementia is a normal part of aging. Among the public, there is also uncertainty about the differences between age-related memory problems and warning signs of dementia (Cahill et al., 2015; Cations et al., 2018). Efforts to raise public awareness of dementia through educational and advocacy programs play a pivotal role in enhancing dementia care and improving caregivers' quality of life (Ashworth et al., 2022; Cahill et al., 2015). Despite the presence of existing initiatives, both at the population and professional levels, knowledge of dementia remains relatively low. Dementia education courses are provided to diverse groups, including children, students, and healthcare workers, to

help reduce stigma (Bacsu et al., 2022). Despite this, there is a noticeable shortfall in educational offerings specifically designed for the older population. Integrating topics on healthy aging with dementia-related content could effectively address this gap.

Attitudes toward dementia encompass behavioral, cognitive, and emotional responses toward the condition (O'Connor & McFadden, 2009). Negative attitudes toward aging and dementia symptoms can contribute to stigma against individuals with dementia within healthcare services. This stigma can cause those affected to internalize negative beliefs, resulting in depression, lower self-esteem, and decreased participation in activities (Chang & Hsu, 2020). Societal perceptions of dementia are often influenced by harmful dualistic frames that separate the body and mind, devaluing the humanity of individuals with dementia (Cuadrado et al., 2022). Conversely, counter-framing strategies that unite the body and mind can challenge misleading stereotypes. Failure to address these stereotypes results in individuals living with dementia avoiding their symptoms and seeking assistance (Burgener et al., 2015; Low & Purwaningrum, 2020). The widespread stigma poses significant barriers to early diagnosis and treatment (Chang & Hsu, 2020; Kim et al., 2022). Recognizing and addressing stigma toward individuals with dementia and their condition is imperative for changing perceptions of dementia.

The relationship between knowledge and attitudes about dementia is nuanced and remains inadequately understood. Chang and Hsu (2020) highlight that while there is a recognized link between these elements, the precise nature of their relationship continues to require further exploration. A cross-sectional study examined two specific dimensions of attitudes toward dementia: accepting and affective (Lee et al., 2023). The findings indicated that increased knowledge positively influenced accepting attitudes but had no significant effect on affective attitudes. This suggests that while enhanced knowledge may promote greater

acceptance of individuals living with dementia, increased levels of knowledge may not necessarily result in modified emotional responses or more profound personal sentiments toward the condition. In a different cross-sectional study, it was observed that possessing knowledge does not automatically lead to positive attitudes toward dementia (Rosato et al., 2019). This could be due to personal biases that obstruct efforts toward social inclusion. Factors such as a broad understanding of dementia, coupled with a lack of awareness about its risk factors, can contribute to sustaining negative attitudes. The discrepancies observed between these studies may be attributed to the different dimensions of attitudes measured. Understanding and addressing these variations is crucial for developing more effective educational interventions aimed at improving attitudes toward dementia.

Age differences also present a challenge, as older adults possess more knowledge but demonstrate fewer positive attitudes toward dementia than the youth population (Newton et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2022). Individuals with personal experiences with dementia often possess greater knowledge of dementia through the reality and risk factors of the disease, potentially leading to increased worry (Joo et al., 2021; Kessler et al., 2012). However, those with higher dementia knowledge who engage in cognitive activities such as writing and music can reduce worry and lower their risk of developing dementia. Thus, there is significance in encouraging public engagement in cognitive activities as a preventive measure against dementia (Joo et al., 2021). While a complex relationship exists between dementia-related knowledge and attitudes, evidence indicates that age, personal experiences, and engagement in cognitive activities shape these attitudes. Therefore, increasing public engagement in such activities could potentially modify attitudes toward dementia and may be necessary for older adults.

The interplay between knowledge and attitude surrounding dementia is intricate. Despite increased awareness efforts, the persistent low levels of dementia knowledge across various demographics highlight the need for more effective educational strategies (Cahill et al., 2015; Lawler et al., 2021). Furthermore, the influence of personal experiences and societal stigma on attitudes toward dementia underscores the complexity of changing public perceptions (Cheston et al., 2015; Cuadrado et al., 2023).

#### **Dementia Awareness Programs**

With global and national organizations increasing efforts to enhance dementia awareness, there is a growing emphasis on community engagement as a strategy to address dementia (Odzakovic et al., 2021). Dementia education and training at the community level are vital interventions aimed at enhancing understanding, promoting the creation of dementia-friendly environments, and supporting early diagnosis and prevention efforts (Matsumoto et al., 2021). Programs addressing early diagnosis aim to motivate individuals to seek help and receive diagnostic procedures promptly. Training for healthcare professionals aims at refining their skills in early diagnosis of dementia, with reported outcomes showing increased practitioner confidence in both diagnosis and management (Lathren et al., 2013; Schütze et al., 2018).

Apart from individual-focused approaches to diagnosis and prevention programs, some programs address awareness from the perspective of a supportive community. One significant approach is to develop dementia-friendly communities that foster an inclusive environment where individuals with dementia receive understanding, respect, and support (Wu et al., 2022; Hung et al., 2020). These communities actively involve the public in awareness education and create welcoming and accessible environments that support social inclusion (Matsumoto et al., 2021; Phillipson et al., 2019). In order to expand dementia-friendly communities and provide

support for individuals and families affected by dementia, there is a need to raise awareness, improve knowledge, and develop openness to welcome dementia-friendly communities (Parkinson et al., 2022). One six-week dementia awareness and prevention program showed a significant reduction in dementia-related fears among older adults but had minimal impact on their knowledge, attitudes, and health behaviors (Kim et al., 2022). While individual and community-focused programs are crucial steps toward fostering dementia-friendly environments, continuous efforts in education, awareness, and behavioral change are necessary to truly cultivate communities that fully embrace and support individuals with dementia.

Occupational therapy is increasingly recognized as a vital component of dementia awareness initiatives. Through the development of practical tools tailored for daily activities, occupational therapy practice aims to enhance the quality of life for individuals with dementia and positively shifts public perception when applied community-wide (Darlington et al., 2021; Maki & Endo, 2018). Research indicates that integrating these tools into mainstream services is more effective than isolated initiatives improving attitudes toward dementia (Darlington et al., 2021). For the current project's purpose, various types of dementia awareness programs provide insight into how community engagement and education can be optimized to foster a more inclusive and supportive environment for individuals living with dementia.

#### **Occupational Engagement**

Occupation refers to the everyday activities people do as individuals, families, or communities that occupy time and bring meaning into everyday lives (AOTA, 2020). The domains of occupation include ADLs, instrumental activities of daily living (IADLs), health management, rest and sleep, education, work, play, leisure, and social participation. Occupational engagement refers to active involvement, participation, or performance in

meaningful activities (Black et al., 2019). This section explores occupational engagement in two groups: individuals living with dementia and older adults looking to promote healthy aging. It also highlights the need for increased societal awareness to overcome obstacles that hinder occupational engagement for individuals and their families living with dementia.

#### Strategies for Sustaining Occupational Engagement in Dementia Care

Occupational engagement is essential for maintaining dignity, a sense of identity, and quality of life in those living with dementia (Han et al., 2015; Kielsgaard et al., 2020; Toit et al., 2018). Meaningful activities, habits, routines, and roles are essential for individuals with dementia to maintain a sense of normality and preferred lifestyle (Han et al., 2015). Beyond mere participation, engagement in occupations provides individuals with a sense of purpose, autonomy, and value (Han et al., 2015; Wolfe et al., 2021). Creating continued opportunities for building agency and promoting occupational justice in residential care can enhance the engagement of individuals with dementia in meaningful occupations (Toit et al., 2018). However, individuals living with dementia often lack engagement in meaningful occupations, which can lead to a decreased quality of life (Kielsgaard et al., 2020). Nevertheless, individuals with dementia have the right to actively engage in social and occupational activities within residential care settings. Therefore, it is vital to promote their engagement in meaningful occupations (Morgan-Brown et al., 2019). Through meaningful activities, those with dementia can not only maintain a sense of agency but also forge vital connections to their identity, others, and the world around them.

For a dementia awareness program centered on occupational engagement, it is essential to comprehend the needs of individuals living with dementia. Social activities and outside occupational pursuits can promote well-being and reduce neuropsychiatric behaviors in those

with dementia (Marx et al., 2019; Morgan-Brown et al., 2019). In addition, activities in landscapes can aid in reorienting individuals with ADRD (Brittain et al., 2010). Occupations in a social context underscore the importance of allowing individuals with dementia to express meaningful activities, requiring mindfulness from those interacting with them (Teitelman et al., 2010). The occupational engagement intervention developed by Kielsgaard and colleagues (2022) emphasizes three components: an activity program, staff workflow, and environmental adaptations. The activity program involves daily clubs, group activities such as games or walks, and staff planning. Environmental adaptations, such as room decorations, aim to address stimuli. Three key components emerged, which guide the effective facilitation of occupational engagement for individuals living with dementia, supporting better understanding and interaction for caregivers, friends, and family members: 1) providing opportunities for engagement in everyday spaces, 2) granting autonomy for individualized engagements, and 3) establishing structured routines for familiarity.

The environmental context plays a pivotal role in supporting individuals with dementia in engaging in their occupational activities, which is crucial for their well-being. Due to the progressive nature of dementia, cognitive and physical deterioration present significant challenges, impeding the ability to participate in meaningful activities. Environmental modifications are essential in facilitating engagement and reducing the demands placed on individuals. Simple yet effective strategies such as adjusting lighting and utilizing color contrasts can greatly enhance comfort and promote independence within residential care settings (Soilemezi et al., 2017). Furthermore, non-pharmacological interventions are instrumental in managing neuropsychiatric symptoms common in dementia, including agitation and apathy. These interventions not only provide relief to the affected individuals but also offer support to

caregivers by easing the challenges associated with these symptoms (Livingston et al., 2020). Tailoring the environment and consideration of interventions are vital to fostering occupational engagement and improving the overall well-being of those with dementia, directly addressing the hurdles posed by cognitive impairments and emotional disturbances.

Environmental challenges extend beyond the home to include hospitals and long-term care facilities, where generic design standards fail to address the specific needs of those with dementia, contributing to distress and disorientation (Catt & Giridharan, 2018; Xidous et al., 2020). The design of living and care spaces emerges as a pivotal factor influencing the well-being of individuals with dementia. Features promoting safe mobility, visibility, and interaction with nature, along with creating homelike environments, play an integral role in improving mood, social interaction, and the overall quality of life (Motealleh et al., 2019). Awareness programs can enlighten older adults about the importance of personalized activities and tailored environments, leading to greater empathy and improved support structures for those living with dementia.

The findings underscore the significance of tailored environments in supporting the wellbeing of individuals with dementia, highlighting the potential benefits of awareness programs that address occupational engagement concepts. By educating community older adults on the importance of environmental adaptations and personalized activities, such programs could foster a deeper understanding and more positive attitudes toward dementia. This enhanced awareness can lead to greater empathy and support for creating dementia-friendly communities, ultimately improving the quality of life for those living with dementia. Through the strategic design of living spaces and the implementation of non-pharmacological interventions, these programs can

play a pivotal role in promoting inclusivity and well-being for individuals with dementia, reflecting a community-wide shift toward more supportive and understanding attitudes.

#### Strategies for Promoting Active Aging through Occupational Engagement

Occupational engagement also serves as a cornerstone for promoting healthy aging among the general older adult population (Stav et al., 2012). Meaningful activities can enhance life quality, independence, and well-being across the aging spectrum, making them particularly important for the older adult population. Participation in ADLs and IADLs is linked to improved health outcomes, cognitive enhancement, and diminished dementia risk (Stav et al., 2012; Koh et al., 2021). Further insights reveal that older adults perceive the value of an occupation not only from physical engagement but also through the intensity of the involvement and the enjoyment it brings (Lundgren et al., 2020). Although mental and social engagements are more challenging to quantify than physical engagements, the outcome of enjoyment is still of significance. Embracing a comprehensive understanding of these activities can advance a holistic view of aging that celebrates continued engagement across a spectrum of occupations.

The integration of occupational engagement with daily routines is central to promoting healthy aging, highlighting the importance of activities that enhance life quality, autonomy, and overall well-being. This approach aligns with active aging strategies that emphasize lifestyle changes and meaningful activities to improve health outcomes among older adults. Research suggests that a comprehensive approach targeting various health aspects, including physical activity, psychosocial factors, social support, and healthy eating habits, is effective in addressing the multifaceted determinants of active aging (Menichetti et al., 2016; Stav et al., 2012). While lifestyle interventions typically focus on rectifying specific health behaviors, such as physical

inactivity or unhealthy eating, occupational engagement utilizes a profound approach to explore the significance of meaningful activities to provide purpose and fulfillment.

This holistic view acknowledges the necessity for integrative interventions to navigate the physical and cognitive challenges of aging. Multicomponent interventions that include cognitive training, rehabilitation, psychological support, and lifestyle modifications have shown efficacy in boosting self-efficacy among older adults with subjective cognitive decline (Kim et al., 2022).

Additionally, principles of lifestyle redesign that encourage active participation in meaningful occupations significantly enhance life satisfaction and positively affect physical and mental health. Programs such as the Well Elderly Treatment program, which targets healthy lifestyles and meaningful occupations across various dimensions, such as health awareness, social relationships, and cultural engagement, further exemplify this integrated approach (Jackson et al., 1998). By employing didactic presentations alongside interactive activities such as dancing and puzzles, such initiatives highlight the critical link between cognitive health and occupational engagement, offering valuable insights into their combined effect on well-being. Together, these strategies underscore the imperative of a comprehensive plan for fostering active aging, advocating for the integration of lifestyle adjustments and meaningful activity engagement to markedly enhance the aging process.

This literature review highlights the importance of occupational engagement in promoting healthy aging and enhancing the quality of life for individuals with dementia. It emphasizes the significance of meaningful activities in maintaining dignity, identity, and wellbeing and outlines the challenges faced by individuals with dementia in engaging in these activities. Multicomponent interventions address these challenges and showcase programs such

as the Well Elderly Treatment program as examples of integrating occupational engagement with lifestyle modifications to improve cognitive health and overall well-being (Jackson et al., 1998). The current program development project is directly informed by emphasizing the need for interventions that engage the broader community in understanding and supporting the needs of individuals with dementia to create more inclusive, empathetic, and supportive environments for older adults.

The literature review delved into dementia-related knowledge and attitudes, evaluated the effectiveness of awareness programs, and explored the role of occupational engagement for those with dementia as well as the wider aging community. It revealed ongoing challenges in raising dementia awareness, highlighting the intricate relationship between knowledge, societal attitudes, and perceptions. While dementia awareness programs are pivotal in altering societal views and reducing fears, their impact on enhancing knowledge and attitudes needs strengthening through more immersive and interactive educational methods. Additionally, the review highlighted the importance of occupational engagement in supporting individuals with dementia through maintaining dignity, identity, and quality of life. The review also advocated for incorporating meaningful activities into the daily lives of the older population to improve cognitive health and well-being, suggesting a holistic approach to dementia awareness that involves community participation and the promotion of dementia-friendly environments. The literature review concludes that effective dementia awareness programs require a comprehensive strategy that boosts understanding, tackles stigma, and integrates occupational engagement while also educating and engaging the community to support individuals with dementia and create an inclusive environment for older adults.

#### **Statement of Purpose**

This capstone project explored whether developing a dementia awareness program that included occupational engagement concepts could lead to a more positive attitude toward dementia among older adults in the community. The goal was to deepen understanding of how active participation in meaningful activities as part of dementia awareness efforts could enhance perceptions of dementia. By employing occupational therapy perspectives, the project aimed to develop a program that would educate the community on how to foster a more inclusive environment and challenge common dementia myths. The focus was on assessing the impact of incorporating occupational engagement into a dementia awareness program on community attitudes toward dementia.

#### **Theoretical Frameworks**

Two theoretical frameworks guided the development and implementation of the dementia awareness program. The Canadian Model of Occupational Performance and Engagement played a pivotal role in shaping the program's foundation as it emphasized the importance of engagement for individuals with and without dementia (Polatajko, 2007). This framework provided a comprehensive approach to tackle the multifaceted aspects of occupational involvement. The program was designed to empower adults to identify and actively participate in meaningful occupations, which address both the enhancement of personal fulfillment for adults and the facilitation of engagement for those living with dementia. The framework offers a structured and holistic perspective, which aligns with the program's goal of instilling positive attitudes toward dementia through active participation and occupation.

To complement this foundation, the Adult Learning Theory was considered the best approach to address the target population of older adults. This theory recognizes the unique characteristics of adult learners and underscores the significance of personal experiences and self-motivation in the learning process (Lawler, 1991). Consequently, the program was able to adapt to the unique needs of each individual and provide a personalized learning experience that was both enjoyable and effective. The Adult Learning Theory emphasizes self-directed learning and personal relevance, which was instrumental in ensuring that the dementia awareness program resonated with the participants and facilitated a positive attitude shift through a learnercentered approach. Together, these frameworks not only enriched the content of the dementia awareness program but also ensured its relevance and effectiveness in promoting positive attitudes toward dementia through the lens of occupational engagement.

#### Methodology

#### **Project Design and Measures**

The project was designed with a pretest-posttest framework to assess changes in participants' attitudes toward dementia following a five-week program. This approach aimed to explore the effects of the program in enhancing participants' attitudes by comparing data collected before and after the program's implementation. Positive attitude was measured using the Dementia Attitudes Scale (DAS), a 20-item survey designed to assess beliefs, feelings, and understanding about dementia (O'Connor & McFadden, 2009). The DAS addresses various attitudes, such as empathy, stigma, and knowledge about dealing with dementia-affected individuals (O'Connor & McFadden, 2009). The questionnaire consists of a series of statements related to ADRD, requiring respondents to rate each statement on a Likert scale. Higher scores on the DAS indicate more positive attitudes associated with dementia, with some items requiring reverse scoring (see Appendix A). Each item was scored and then summed to produce a total score for each participant. This aggregate score was utilized to observe changes from pre- to post-program.

The DAS is made up of two factors: Dementia Knowledge and Social Comfort. The scale is reliable, with consistent results across evaluations, as demonstrated by Cronbach's alpha coefficients ranging between 0.83 and 0.85. The scale also shows solid convergent validity, as indicated by significant correlations (ranging from 0.44 to 0.55) with other scales that measure ageism and attitudes toward disabilities. Confirmatory factor analysis supports the DAS's twofactor structure and its applicability in diverse groups, affirming its construct validity. The scale was developed with the input of caregivers, professionals, and students and effectively differentiates attitudes toward dementia from general ageism or disability perspectives,

enhancing its discriminant and face validity. The DAS is a reliable tool suitable for both research and clinical settings to assess and monitor attitudes toward dementia. The DAS includes a section on demographics to capture information on participants' age, sex, gender, and ethnicity. It also inquired whether participants knew someone with dementia.

Upon completing the five-week program, participants were given a feedback survey form in paper format, where they responded to short answer questions (see Appendix B). This form was developed to inquire about key concepts covered during the program, including occupational engagement, to gather insights into each participant's personal experience. The feedback survey served as a qualitative tool to identify aspects of the program participants found beneficial as well as areas of improvement.

#### Settings

The dementia awareness program was developed and implemented in Las Vegas, Nevada, through a collaborative effort involving two key agencies. The practices and insights from the Silverado Red Rock Memory Care Community informed initial development. This facility is recognized for its innovative approach to care, featuring customized neighborhoods designed to meet residents' needs and promote meaningful engagement through a diverse range of activities. The experiences at Silverado Red Rock provided valuable knowledge about dementia's manifestation and the adaptation of activities to suit the varying abilities of residents. This foundational knowledge was instrumental in shaping the program introduced at the Osher Lifelong Learning Institute (OLLI) at the University of Nevada, Las Vegas. OLLI, a community for adults aged 50 and older dedicated to lifelong learning, offered a course on dementia awareness. The program targeted members of OLLI who would have an interest in learning about dementia. OLLI was selected as the ideal venue for the newly developed course because its

members are in a prime position to deepen their understanding and potentially advocate for positive approaches and practices concerning dementia within their communities.

#### **Target population and Recruitment**

All participants in the dementia awareness program were members of OLLI and were selected through convenience sampling. Individuals self-selected into the course at the start of the semester, as they were informed by the distributed course catalog prior to the beginning of the spring semester. This catalog provided detailed descriptions and overviews of available courses, including this specialized five-week course, which was shorter than the typical fourteenweek duration for most OLLI courses (see Appendix C). The enrollment process was designed to allow participants to select classes that aligned with their interests, thereby facilitating a personalized educational journey. The class size was capped at 30 participants to ensure an engaging and interactive learning environment. While enrollment in the program was based on voluntary participation, participants were not mandated to partake in the surveys.

#### Procedures

The capstone project focused on exploring the benefits of occupational engagement for individuals with dementia through practical experiences at Silverado Red Rock Memory Care. By interacting closely with residents and staff, the project gathered valuable insights into successful engagement techniques and the impact of environmental or communication adjustments on these methods. This information was used to develop a five-week course at OLLI of one hour and 45 minutes that consisted of discussions and interactive activities (see Appendix D).

#### **Program Content**

#### Week 1: Understanding Dementia

During the first week, the session delved into several key areas to enhance students' understanding of the condition (see Appendix E). The session covered the definition and various types of dementia, including Alzheimer's Disease, Vascular Dementia, Lewy Body Dementia, and Frontotemporal Dementia. It also addressed common myths and misconceptions, such as the notion that dementia is an inevitable part of aging (see Appendix E). Students were introduced to the progressive stages of dementia—mild, moderate, and severe—and discussed the cognitive and functional changes that occur at each stage. A video was presented featuring individuals with dementia, emphasizing the detrimental effects of the stigma they encounter. The course also stresses the importance of recognizing dementia as a complex condition that affects individuals differently, thereby challenging the stigma and fostering a compassionate perspective toward those affected.

#### Week 2: The Importance of Occupational Engagement and Healthy Aging

The second week was centered on the importance of occupational and active engagement in promoting healthy aging, particularly addressing the six pillars of brain health (see Appendix F). The key concepts introduced were physical exercise, food and nutrition, medical health, sleep and relaxation, mental fitness, and social interaction (Jaqua et al., 2023). Safety and balance exercises were emphasized as critical for blood flow and memory improvement, reducing Alzheimer's risk. Nutrition advice highlighted the benefits of antioxidants to combat brain cell oxidation. For medical health, controlling risk factors like hypertension and diabetes was noted as essential in reducing dementia risks. Sleep and relaxation were discussed as vital for reducing stress and the build-up of beta-amyloid plaque linked to Alzheimer's. Mental fitness activities such as puzzles and reading promote brain cell growth and cognitive function. Lastly, social

interaction was shown to slow memory decline and enhance brain health, with community engagement serving as a protective factor against cognitive decline. Each pillar is designed to support overall cognitive health, enabling individuals to maintain independence and a high quality of life as they age.

#### Week 3: Communication Strategies for Dementia

This week's session focused on the importance of communication strategies in dementia care, with a particular emphasis on the use of spaced retrieval as an effective technique for memory enhancement (See Appendix G). Spaced retrieval involves repeatedly recalling information or behaviors over increasingly longer intervals of time, which helps individuals with memory challenges retain and recall information more effectively. During the session, participants engaged in exercises to practice this technique, such as remembering names or the steps involved in daily activities, starting with short recall intervals, and gradually increasing them to strengthen long-term memory retention. The significance of maintaining communication during interactive tasks was also learned through a collaborative craft activity, emphasizing the practical application of these communication skills in real-life interactions with individuals living with dementia.

#### Week 4: Building Empathy and Sharing Personal Experiences

The contents of this week highlighted the concept of empathy in dementia care, specifically focusing on its definition and practical applications (see Appendix H). Empathy is defined as the ability to sense, understand, and resonate with the emotions of another person, which includes both cognitive and emotional components. It was emphasized as a crucial skill for effective communication and as a therapeutic tool in care settings. During the week, various activities were conducted to foster empathy, including role-playing scenarios and empathy

mapping exercises. Role-playing involved participants acting out everyday tasks such as dressing, which helped them understand the emotional and physical challenges faced by individuals in the early stages of dementia. This purposeful engagement allowed participants to step into the shoes of those living with dementia, enhancing their empathetic understanding and enabling more compassionate care strategies.

#### Week 5: Planning the Environment & Ways to Provide Support

In the program's final week, participants were educated on the importance of environmental modifications and support services for enhancing the lives of those with dementia (see Appendix I). This education aimed to equip them with the knowledge and practical skills necessary to foster inclusive, dementia-friendly environments. Additionally, the curriculum included comprehensive ADRD-related resources to broaden participants' understanding and capabilities in supporting affected individuals. For instance, participants were guided on how to utilize the Alzheimer Society's environmental checklist to see if a public space was dementiafriendly (Alzheimer's Society, n.d.). Using both knowledge of creating a dementia-friendly environment and being aware of barriers to a non-friendly climate ensures participants are equipped to contribute effectively to creating supportive community spaces, aligning with the program's goal of cultivating a knowledgeable and empathetic workforce dedicated to improving the quality of life for individuals with dementia.

#### **Data Management and Analysis**

The pretest and posttest scores from the DAS surveys were consolidated into a single Excel file for data analysis. Unique identification codes were assigned to each participant, immediately replacing their names in the pretest data to ensure privacy. The numeral values provided by the Likert scale responses of the DAS were inputted into the Excel Spreadsheet. Six

items from the DAS (Item #2, 6, 8, 9, 16, 17) required reverse scoring and were manually adjusted. Categorical demographic information, such as gender, sexual orientation, and ethnicity, was also inputted into the spreadsheet. The data from the Excel spreadsheet was then imported to IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) Version 28 for analysis, comparing means using both parametric and non-parametric testing. Due to the small sample size, a paired samples t-test and a related samples Wilcoxon Signed Rank test were used for analysis.

The feedback survey consisted of a 10-questions. The surveys were distributed on paper and subsequently transcribed into an Excel spreadsheet for analysis. Using a thematic approach, each response was meticulously reviewed to extract significant keywords and phrases, which were grouped into overarching themes. This process involved identifying key themes through recurring terms, systematically coding responses with similar terminology according to these themes, and ultimately distilling the main takeaways from the program's qualitative data.
### **Ethical and Legal Considerations**

This project obtained approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB), designated under the IRB number UNLV-2023-536. At the start of the program, participants received consent forms pertaining to the surveys and collection of data for analysis, offering them the choice to refrain from answering the survey or participating in the course (see Appendix I). Even if participants chose not to engage in the surveys, the option to attend the course remained available to them. While active participation in all classes over the five weeks was encouraged, attendance for all sessions was voluntary. To maintain the impartiality of data collection and accurately reflect participants' experiences and attitudes, the course instructor was not directly involved in survey administration. Instead, this responsibility was delegated to another individual within the research team. No personally identifiable information, such as names and ages, was included in the data collection process to safeguard confidentiality. Each participant was assigned a unique code to ensure the privacy of sensitive information. These measures were imperative for upholding the ethical integrity of the program and demonstrating due respect for the rights and well-being of the participants.

### Results

The total scores of the DAS were calculated for each participant pre- and post-program. The participants were also asked to complete a feedback survey regarding their experience with the program in the final week of the program.

## **Participant Characteristics**

Fourteen members of the Osher Lifelong Learning Institute (OLLI) self-enrolled in the awareness course. Of these, only nine attended the first session, where they completed the consent form and the DAS pretest survey. By the conclusion of the five-week program, eight participants had completed the post-program survey. The participants' ages ranged from 60 to 90, with an average age of 77.11 years (SD = 9.72). Gender distribution was relatively balanced, with males constituting 55.6% (n = 5) and females 44.4% (n = 4) of the overall course sample. Detailed demographic data is presented in Table 1.

	<i>n</i> = 9
Mean Age	77.1 years old
Age Range	60-90 years old
Standard Deviation	9.727
Female	4 (44.4%)
Male	5 (55.6%%)
Female	4 (44.4%)
Male	5 (55.6%%)
Yes	1 (11.1%)
No	8 (88.9%)
White	5 (55.6%)
Asian	3 (33.3%)
Native American	1 (11.1%)
Yes	5 (55.6%)
No	4 (44.4%)
	Mean Age Age Range Standard Deviation Female Male Female Male Yes No White Asian Native American Yes No

# Table 1: Demographic Characteristics of Sample

## Data from the Dementia Awareness Scale

As the data collected from the Dementia Awareness Scale (DAS) did not conform to a normal distribution, a related sample Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test was employed to determine the statistical significance of the results regarding participants' understanding of dementia before and after the five-week program. The Dementia Attitudes Scale (DAS) spans from 20 to 140, with higher scores indicating more positive attitudes toward dementia. At baseline, the average score recorded was 102.33. The scores at baseline were in the top half of the possible range and well above the lowest score possible, indicating baseline knowledge about dementia. The Dementia Attitudes Scale (DAS) is measured on a scale from 20 to 140, where higher scores reflect more positive attitudes towards dementia. Initially, the average score was 102.33, placing it in the upper half of the scale and significantly above the minimum possible score. This suggests a foundational understanding of dementia among the respondents.

There was a moderate level of variation among participants, indicated by a standard deviation of 14.59. The scores ranged from 79 to 132. Most participants' scores fell within the interquartile range of 93 and 109, with a median score of 102. After participants completed the program, their average score slightly increased to 104.75, with a standard deviation of 14.24. The post-program score spread from 81 to 127, with the interquartile range also broadening to 94.5 to 115.5 and a median score of 105. The statistical analysis indicated that the observed change in scores fell within a range of the distribution that was not significant enough to reject the null hypothesis of no difference. For a comprehensive comparison of DAS scores before and after the program, refer to Table 2.

**Pre-DAS Post-DAS** Ζ. р Md Md M (SD) M (SD) Total 102.3 (14.5) 104.7 (14.2) -1.18 0.23 102 105 Score

 
 Table 2: Results from Dementia Attitudes Scale Pre- and Post-Dementia Awareness
 Program

*Note.* Md = Median scores.

Out of the eight participants, five showed positive ranks, indicating their scores improved after the program, with a mean rank of 4.20 and their ranks reaching 21.00. In contrast, two participants showed negative ranks, meaning their scores decreased, with a mean rank of 3.50 and a total rank of 7.00. Additionally, one participant's scores remained the same before and after the program. Although these results indicate a slight trend toward improved attitudes toward dementia following the program, the change in scores was not statistically significant. See Table 3 for more detailed information on the ranks.

The quantitative analysis also included a demographic variable indicating whether participants had known or worked with someone living with dementia to explore potential trends in how personal experiences influence outcomes related to positive attitudes. In the analysis of pre- and post-test score variations, five participants showed an increase in scores; two had experience in dementia care, while three did not have experience. Conversely, among the two participants whose scores decreased, one had prior experience with dementia, while the other lacked such experience. Both groups are represented across all outcomes, displaying a nearly even distribution between participants with and without experience. This balanced

representation complicates the ability to identify a definitive trend linking experience with a positive attitude in this sample.

 Table 3: Ranks from the scores of the DAS Post-Dementia Awareness Program

	n	Mean Rank	Sum of Ranks
Negative Ranks	2	3.50	7.00
<b>Positive Ranks</b>	5	4.20	21.00
Ties	1		
Total	8		
Note. $n = 8$			

**Feedback Survey Results** 

The analysis of the survey responses was conducted using a thematic approach. Initially, all responses were thoroughly examined to identify key words and phrases. These elements were then categorized into common themes. Subsequently, responses containing similar words and phrases were coded to align with these identified themes. From the survey responses, six central themes emerged: Influence on Attitudes, Understanding of Dementia and Occupational Engagement, Perceptions of Dementia, Useful Resources, Recommendation Likelihood, and Areas of Improvement. Table 4 provides an overview of themes to offer a structured analysis of the collected feedback.

Themes	Frequency of Keywords	Question(s)
Influence on Attitudes	22	2, 3, 5, 6, 7, 10
Understanding Dementia and Occupational Engagement	16	3, 4, 5, 7
Perceptions of Dementia	14	1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 10
Useful Resources	11	2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10
Recommendation Likelihood	6	9
Areas of Improvement	3	8, 10

# Table 3: Frequency of Keyword Occurrences by Question

Among these themes, the most prevalent pertains to the program's significant impact on influencing participants' attitudes. Table 5 describes the main themes derived from related keywords or phrases as well as direct quotes demonstrating the theme.

Theme	Keywords or Brief Phrases	Direct Quotes
Influence on Attitudes	Positive influence, practical value, supportive	"Be positive, less emotional, and focus on the needs of the person." "A more positive and caring attitude will make them feel better and worthwhile."
Understanding of Dementia and Occupational Engagement	Informative, real-life examples	"I am better equipped to handle dementia matters – be it knowledge or learning resources." "It [the program] broadened my horizons on understanding occupational engagement."
Perceptions of Dementia	Fearful, uncomfortable, more tolerant	"Scary. I am at a new life and it seems to be getting worse." "More afraid of getting dementia than anything else."
Useful Resources	Resources	"This program provides additional resources I would not have known if I did not take this class."
Recommendation Likelihood	Recommendations to incorporate occupational engagement	"Yes. It would be helpful to incorporate the occupational engagement aspects with some of the other dementia classes." "I would say the reality was much more challenging, but an education like this program definitely is very helpful."
Areas for Improvement	Real-life examples, over- positive outlook	"Provide more real-life examples with input from the class if possible." "It would be helpful to cover more on moderate and severe dementia where patients have reduced capabilities."

# Table 4: Identified Themes in Feedback Survey Responses

The feedback survey revealed several key themes regarding the impact of the program on participants' understanding and attitudes toward dementia. Pertaining to the theme of Influence on Attitudes, responses mentioned several instances of positive influence. Participants noted a shift in their approach, with comments such as, "I am more compassionate and can be helpful when dealing with people living with dementia" and feeling as though they can be "more helpful to that person." These reflections emphasize the program's impact in fostering a more supportive and empathetic perspective toward individuals living with dementia.

The theme of Understanding Dementia and Occupational Engagement emerged from responses highlighting that the program significantly boosted participants' understanding of dementia and the importance of occupational engagement. Participants noted that it "greatly improved my understanding" and taught them how to be "more helpful to a person living with dementia." Additionally, remarks such as "I thought dementia was not as bad as Alzheimer's disease" prior to the program revealed their initial misconceptions and emotionally driven perceptions of the condition.

The theme of Perceptions of Dementia was predominantly defined by negative emotions, with participants expressing fear and discomfort prior to the program. They shared their personal experiences with dementia as being "difficult" and "emotional." Notably, one participant admitted to feeling "uncomfortable talking about dementia," which not only underscored the prevalent negative perceptions but also reflected how these attitudes influenced their behaviors and interactions related to the condition.

The theme of Useful Resources emerged prominently as many participants recognized the value of the program's materials. They expressed appreciation for how these resources

enhanced their ability to manage situations more effectively. They commented, "I think I have better eyes on how to deal with my husband," and "knowing what resources to get for help." Furthermore, participants noted that "learning resources" not only deepened their understanding of dementia but also equipped them to approach challenges with a more positive attitude.

All eight participants affirmed the effectiveness of the program in addressing the importance of occupational engagement, with each responding "yes" when asked directly. Additionally, six participants recommended the program to others. Comments such as, "Yes, it would be helpful to incorporate the occupational engagement aspects with some of the other dementia classes," suggest that the program's approach was not only valued but also seen as a beneficial addition to existing dementia education courses.

Lastly, the theme of Areas for Improvement emerged from participant feedback, highlighting opportunities to enhance the program. One participant noted, "The instructor's outlook is so positive; I think it will wear off for the others within this room." This comment reflects a concern about whether older participants can sustain the positivity displayed by the instructor over time.

### Discussion

The purpose of the capstone project was to develop a dementia awareness program that integrated educational content with principles of occupational engagement and evaluate an increase in positive attitudes toward dementia among older adults. Developed to dispel common misconceptions about dementia, the program also introduced participants to various occupational engagements, such as physical exercises, cognitive activities, communication strategies, and empathy building, from a preventative perspective. The awareness program encouraged participants to actively engage in these occupations and to understand how individuals living with dementia could participate in similar activities.

This program represented the first known initiative to explicitly incorporate occupational engagements into a dementia awareness curriculum, setting a precedent in occupational therapy. Additionally, it aligned with the principles of health promotion within occupational therapy (OT) practice, emphasizing the role of meaningful activities in maintaining and enhancing quality of life (AOTA, 2020). By integrating occupational engagement into the program, the project underscored the potential of OT practices in health promotion, particularly in educating and shifting perceptions about dementia among older adults.

### **Quantitative Results from the DAS**

The quantitative analysis of the total scores from the DAS did not demonstrate statistical significance in the improvement of participants' attitudes toward dementia before and after participation in the program. This finding is consistent with results from other integrated interventions, which similarly reported no significant alterations in dementia-related knowledge and attitudes (Kim et al., 2022). Notably, despite the lack of knowledge and attitudinal changes, a reduction in participants' fear of dementia was observed for an integrated dementia awareness

program (Kim et al., 2022). Higher levels of knowledge do not invariably lead to more positive attitudes, as factors such as age and personal experiences with dementia can play a role in cementing such attitudes (Rosato et al., 2019). The intricate relationship among attitudes, knowledge, and fear concerning dementia underscores the necessity for employing varied outcome measures. Such measures would facilitate a more comprehensive understanding of the dynamics influencing positive attitudes toward dementia.

The DAS results showed that while five participants demonstrated improvements, two exhibited a decrease in scores, and one participant's score remained unchanged. These variations did not yield statistically significant differences in the DAS scores before and after the program. The lack of statistical significance may be attributed to several reasons. One reason is the limited capacity of the outcome measure to detect more subtle changes in attitude. Also, the brief duration of the five-week intervention might not have been sufficient to capture nuanced shifts in attitudes. It has been suggested that longer interventions are more likely to yield significant improvements (Kim et al., 2022). Additionally, the participants' initially moderate to high baseline attitudes, which could have been shaped by personal experiences with dementia, might have influenced these findings. Research indicates that individuals with personal connections to dementia tend to have more positive views toward the condition (Cheston et al., 2015; Newton et al., 2021). An analysis of the pre- and post-test scores relative to each participant's experience with dementia revealed varied outcomes. Among the five participants whose scores increased, two had prior experience with dementia, while three did not. Conversely, of the two participants whose scores decreased, one had experience with dementia, and the other did not. These results demonstrate that both groups are represented across all outcomes, complicating any definitive conclusions about the impact of personal experiences on test score changes in this sample.

### **Qualitative Findings from the Feedback Surveys**

The thematic analysis of the feedback surveys revealed the participants' overall positive experiences and perceptions of the program. Prior to the program, many participants regarded dementia as uncomfortable, emotional, scary, and difficult. These perceptions prior to the start of the program are aligned with the general public's perception of dementia, which could be categorized as uncomfortable, ashamed, or unfriendly (Chang & Hsu, 2020). After the program, participants expressed an increased readiness to support individuals with dementia. The high frequency of keywords related to practical value and positive attitudes toward dementia demonstrated through a better understanding of the condition and feeling empowered, illustrated a bridge between acquiring knowledge and application of empathy and providing support. Notably, interactions with those experiencing dementia and access to resources to promote occupational engagement in personal lives were highly valued. The overwhelming consensus was one of endorsement, with many participants expressing a willingness to recommend the program to others, suggesting the importance of integrating occupational engagements into broader dementia-related educational efforts.

While the feedback on the program was largely positive, there were also notable areas for improvement. One participant suggested incorporating more real-life examples with input from the class. As the Adult Learning Theory assumes that adults learn effectively when new information is connected to their existing knowledge and experience, future sessions may consider more encouragement from class members to share their experiences or observations of dementias to provide diverse perspectives and enrich collective understanding of dementia (Lawler, 1991). Feedback also indicated a need for the program to delve more into the complexities associated with moderate and severe dementia. This suggests an opportunity to

further explore the challenges and strategies for supporting individuals as their dementia progresses. Aligning this with principles of the CMOP-E, the program could enhance its curriculum by focusing on how to adapt the environment and activities to meet the evolving needs of individuals with dementia, considering their physical, social, and cultural contexts. This adjustment would offer practical insights into maintaining engagement and supporting the quality of life for those in the later stages of dementia.

The dichotomy between the statistical data and the qualitative feedback reflects a broader challenge in evaluating dementia awareness programs. While quantitative measures did not show significant improvements, the positive qualitative insights suggest a favorable perception of the program among participants. This discrepancy emphasizes the complexity of gauging attitude changes and the potential limitations of relying exclusively on quantitative metrics to capture the nuanced outcomes of educational interventions.

### **Limitations and Assumptions**

This capstone project was designed to develop a dementia awareness program aimed at enhancing the attitudes of older adults toward dementia. As the program was a novel approach that explicitly integrated occupational engagements into a dementia awareness program, several limitations and underlying assumptions merit discussion.

A significant limitation of this program was the small sample size, which might have restricted the ability to achieve statistically significant findings. The limited number of participants poses challenges in detecting subtle yet potentially meaningful changes in attitudes toward dementia, which are critical for assessing the effectiveness of the program. This small sample size also impacts the statistical power of the DAS results, thereby reducing the confidence in the results and limiting the extent to which these findings can be generalized to a broader population.

The utilization of the Dementia Attitudes Scale (DAS) as the sole instrument to assess changes in dementia awareness may not have comprehensively captured the multifaceted aspects of attitudes toward dementia. This focus raises the question of whether other dimensions, such as knowledge or fear associated with dementia, might have shifted without being detected by the DAS. Given that the DAS is specifically designed to gauge shifts in attitude, its sensitivity to detect nuanced changes in other cognitive or emotional responses to dementia, such as knowledge acquisition or fear reduction, is likely limited. This limitation suggests the use of a broader array of assessment tools in future iterations of the program. Incorporating measures that can capture knowledge enhancement and changes in emotional responses, such as fear or anxiety associated with dementia, would provide a more comprehensive understanding of how such programs impact participants beyond just attitudinal shifts.

Furthermore, the baseline data indicated that the initial total scores on the DAS fell within a moderate range, suggesting that participants started the program with a moderate awareness of dementia. The pre-existing moderate levels of positive attitudes could have obscured the detection of significant changes in attitudes as a result of the program.

### Conclusion

This program development project examined the impact of a five-week dementia awareness initiative targeted at community-dwelling older adults against the backdrop of the global dementia concern. With projections indicating a tripling of dementia prevalence by 2050 (WHO, 2022), the need for increased public awareness and understanding becomes increasingly urgent. Despite such prevalence, the general public's grasp of dementia is notably deficient, a gap that often fuels negative attitudes toward those affected (Cations et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2022; Rosato et al., 2019). Weaving occupational engagement into the fabric of the program aims to shift the narrative and improve attitudes toward dementia among older adults. Although the changes in DAS scores were minor and did not achieve statistical significance, qualitative feedback painted a picture of positive reception, highlighting the nuanced impact of the program.

### **Implications for Research**

The capstone project's findings illuminate critical paths for future research in dementia awareness. Research should explore longitudinal designs to assess the long-term impacts of dementia awareness programs, providing insights into the sustainability of attitude changes. Additionally, incorporating mixed methods approaches can enrich the understanding of program impacts, allowing for a comprehensive analysis that integrates quantitative outcomes with qualitative experiences. This broader methodological spectrum could unveil intricate dynamics affecting dementia awareness and attitudes, facilitating the development of more targeted and effective interventions.

### **Implications for Practice**

The project emphasizes the importance of integrating dementia awareness into community engagement initiatives by OT practitioners. Practitioners are encouraged to utilize

person-centered approaches that highlight the significance of occupational engagement in enhancing the quality of life for individuals with dementia. This includes advocating for environments that support meaningful activities tailored to individual capabilities and interests. Furthermore, practitioners should consider collaborative efforts that bridge the profession with other disciplines and community resources, enhancing the effectiveness of dementia awareness programs. These practices not only contribute to improving societal attitudes toward dementia but also reinforce the role of OT in promoting health, well-being, and inclusive communities.

### **Future Implications for OT**

The findings suggest several future directions for OT in the context of dementia care and awareness. There is a clear opportunity for OT professionals to lead in the development and implementation of dementia awareness programs that are grounded in occupational engagement. Such programs could emphasize the preventive aspects of OT by focusing on lifestyle modifications and early cognitive health interventions. Additionally, OT practitioners could play a crucial role in research, exploring innovative approaches to dementia care that prioritize meaningful engagement and occupational justice. By demonstrating the effectiveness of occupation-based interventions in improving attitudes toward dementia, OT can advocate for policies and practices that support a more dementia-inclusive society. Ultimately, these efforts can contribute to a shift in how dementia is perceived and addressed, highlighting the value of occupational engagement in fostering a compassionate and informed public response to dementia.

## Appendix A

## **Dementia Attitudes Scale**

### The Dementia Attitudes Scale

Melissa O'Connor, Ph.D. and Susan H. McFadden, Ph.D.

Please rate each statement according to how much you agree or disagree with it. Circle 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, or 7 according to how you feel in each case. *Please be honest. There are no right or wrong answers.* The acronym "ADRD" in each question stands for "Alzheimer's disease and related dementias."

<ol> <li>It is rewarding to be around with people</li> </ol>							
who have ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
2. I am afraid of people with ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
3. People with ADRD can be creative.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
4. I feel confident around people with ADRD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
5. I am comfortable touching people with ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
6. I feel uncomfortable being around people							
with ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
7. Every person with ADRD has different needs.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
8. I am not very familiar with ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
9. I would avoid an agitated person with ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
10. People with ADRD like having familiar							
things nearby.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
11. It is important to know the past history of							
people with ADRD.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Slightly Disagree	Neutral	Slightly Agree	Agree	Strongly Agree
Turn Page Over							

12. It is possible to enjoy interacting with people with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
13. I feel relaxed around people with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
14. People with ADRD can enjoy life.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
15. People with ADRD can feel when others are kind to them.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
16. I feel frustrated because I do not know how to help people with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
someone with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
18. I admire the coping skills of people with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
19. We can do a lot now to improve the lives of people with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree
20. Difficult behaviors may be a form of communication for people with ADRD.	1 Strongly Disagree	2 Disagree	3 Slightly Disagree	4 Neutral	5 Slightly Agree	6 Agree	7 Strongly Agree

# **DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION**

1) Age: \_\_\_\_\_

Sex: (Please check one that best applies to you)
\_\_\_\_Female
\_\_\_\_Male
\_\_\_\_Intersex
\_\_\_\_Prefer not to say
\_\_\_\_Other: \_\_\_\_\_

Which gender do you identify as? (Please check one that best applies to you)

Woman

\_\_\_\_Man

\_\_\_\_Transgender

\_\_\_\_Non-Binary

Prefer not to say

Other:

Are you of Hispanic/Latino/Spanish origin?

\_\_\_\_Yes

No

How would you best describe yourself?

American Indian or Alaska Native

Asian

- Black or African American
- Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
- White

2) Have you ever known or worked with someone who has ADRD

Yes

If yes, please explain. How long have you known, or did you know the person or people with ADRD? How close was your relationship?



No

You're done! Thank you for your help!

## Appendix **B**

## **Feedback Survey**

Thank you for your participation in the dementia awareness program. Your insights and experiences help me understand the program's potential impact on attitudes toward dementia. Please take a moment to share your thoughts on the program in 1-2 sentences.

- 1) Before participating in this program, what were your perceptions and attitudes toward dementia?
- 2) Did this program influence your attitudes or perceptions about dementia? If so, in what ways?
- 3) To what extent do you feel the program improved your understanding of dementia and occupational engagement?
- 4) Did the course content effectively address the importance of occupational engagement in the dementia awareness program?
- 5) Please describe any specific moments or insights from the program that contributed to a more positive attitude toward dementia.

6) In what ways do you think a more positive attitude toward dementia can benefit individuals living with dementia and their caregivers?

7) Do you feel more prepared or empowered to engage with individuals who have dementia in your personal or professional life after participating in this program?

\_\_\_\_\_

- 8) Were there any challenges or areas where you believe the program could have done more to promote positive attitudes about dementia?
- 9) Would you recommend this program to others to foster positive attitudes toward dementia?
- 10) Do you have any additional comments or reflections on the impact of this program on your attitudes toward dementia?

# Appendix C

**Example of Recruitment Material** 

# UNDERSTANDING DEMENTIA THROUGH OCCUPATIONAL ENGAGEMENT: A DEMENTIA AWARENESS PROGRAM

This five-week program is an engaging and informative course designed to empower adults to engage in meaningful activities and participation. This is also a dementia awareness program, where we will cover knowledge about dementia and deconstruct misconceptions about the condition. In each week, there will be lectures, as well as opportunities for physical and cognitive activities and discussions related to the weekly topic. This program is part of a capstone research project to see if a dementia awareness program with occupational engagement content can improve positive attitudes toward dementia.

**UNLV OLLI Campus** 

Thursdays, February 15th - March 21st, 2024 (5 weeks)

Time: 1:45 PM - 3:30 PM

Instructor: Cynthia Lee is a third-year student at UNLV's Occupational Therapy program. At the end of spring 2024, Cynthia aims to graduate and become an occupational therapist who helps people across their lifespan to develop or regain the skills needed for everyday activities and meaningful activities to increase independence and achieve overall well-being. During her time as a student, Cynthia has experience working with children and adults in various settings. As this is a research project, please contact Dr. Samantha John at <u>samantha.john@unlv.edu</u> if you have any questions.

# Appendix D

# Summary of Interactive Content

Week	Topics	Activities/Materials
Week 1: Understanding	Debunking Misconceptions,	True/False Questions
Dementia	Deciphering between age- related memory issues versus dementia	Brief Case Scenarios
Week 2: The Importance of	Physical Health	Balance exercises; Energy
Occupational Engagement	Cognitive Health	conservation tips
and Healthy Aging	Occupational Engagement	Word Games: A through Z associations
		Group Discussions
Week 3: Communication	Spaced Retrieval	Roleplaying scenarios
Strategies for Dementia	Ask, Encourage, and	Using Communication
	Acknowledge	Strategies with Origami
	Giving Instructions	Folding Activity
Week 4: Building Empathy	Perspective of Dementia	Videos
and Sharing Personal	Creative Storytelling	Using pictures and guiding
Experiences	Empathy Mapping	questions to form stories
		Group Empathy Mapping with case scenario
Week 5: Planning the	Home modifications	Group discussions
Environment & Ways to	Use of memory aids	Using environmental
Provide Support	Dementia Friendly	checklists
	Communities	Scenarios
	Community Resources	

# **Appendix E**

# **Example of Lecture Material from Week 1**



01 Defining Dement	а	
02 Debunking Myth	and Misconceptions	
03 Stages & Types of	f Dementia	
		0
		¢



# What is dementia?

Dementia is an umbrella term that is used to describe a wide range of symptoms, most notably impacting **memory**, **thinking**, **language**, **problem-solving**, and **other thinking abilities** that interfere with everyday life.

(Alzheimer's Association, 2023)





#2. People with dementia cannot understand what's going on around them.

-

-

5

#3. People with dementia are violent and aggressive. (Vizhelmer Society Canada, n.d.)

#4. People with dementia cannot contribute meaningfully to society. (Athelmer Society Canada, n.d.)

# **6**

#5. A dementia diagnosis means the end of a meaningful life. (kithelimer Society Canada, n.d.)







### Common types of dementia

Most common types of dementia are identified as

- Alzheimer's Disease
- Vascular dementia
- Dementia of Lewy bodies
- Frontotemporal dementia
  AIDs-related dementia
- Creutzfeldt-Jacob Disease (CJD) Alcohol-related dementia .
- .

# ation, n.d.) morte An

### Alzheimer's Disease

Alzheimer's Disease is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder affecting cognition and memory

Due to: Built-up of beta-amyloid and tau proteins in the brain Prevalence: ~5.8 million people in the United States have Alzheimer's disease and related dementias (ADRD)<sup>4</sup>

• By 2060, the number of ADRD cases are predicted to rise to 14 million people.

heimer Society Canada, n.d.)



### **Alzheimer's Disease**

Symptoms: Memory loss, cognitive decline, disorientation, behavior changes, language difficulty, and decline in executive function

Risk Factors: Age, APOE gene, genetics, head injuries, cardiovascular

• Modifiable vs. Non-modifiable risk factors?

**Typical Age of Onset** 

• 60+

litute on Aging, n.d.)

### Vascular Dementia

ntia Australia n.d.)

Vascular dementia occurs when there is damage to the blood vessels that provide oxygen to the brain. This results in cognitive decline.

Prevalence: 2nd most common cause of dementia

Due to: Different conditions that interrupt blood flow and oxygen supply to the brain

### Vascular Dementia

### Symptoms:

• Memory, disorientation, difficulty planning, mood changes, coordination problems, slurred speech

Risk Factors: Vascular conditions, stroke, diabetes, smoking, high cholesterol

Typical Age of Onset:

• 65+

(Alzheimer's Association, n.d.; National Institute on Aging, n.d.)



**Frontotemporal dementia** is the progressive damage to the frontal and temporal lobes of the brain

**Due to:** Abnormal amounts of tau and TDP-43 protein within the neurons located in the frontal and temporal lobes  $\rightarrow$  leading to degeneration of neurons

(National Institute on Aging, n.d.)

### Frontotemporal dementia

Symptoms: Personality, behavior, language difficulties, executive functioning, memory problems

.

Risk Factors: Genetics, age Typical Age of Onset

• 45-64

(National Institute on Aging, n.d.)

B

### Lewy Body dementia

Lewy Body Dementia is characterized by the presence of abnormal protein deposits in the brain, leading to a combination of cognitive fluctuations, visual hallucinations, and motor symptoms reminiscent of Parkinson's disease.

**Due to** Abnormal protein deposits called Lewy bodies in the brain.

Prevalence: 3<sup>rd</sup> most common dementia

### Lewy Body dementia

Symptoms: Cognition, movement, sleep, and behavior Risk Factors: Age, gender, family history Typical Age of Onset • 50

### Mixed dementia

Mixed dementia is when a person has more than one type of dementia.

### Prevalence: Relatively common

- Common types of mixed dementia: • Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia
- Alzheimer's disease and Lewy body disease

(Alzheimer's Society, n.d.)

### Mixed dementia Symptoms: Memory loss, cognitive decline, behavior and mood changes, motor skills and coordination difficulties, language and communication problems Risk Factors: Age, cardiovascular risk factors, genetics, history of stroke/vascular issues Typical Age of Onset • 65

• 65

(Alzheimer's Society, n.d.)











### Scenario 1

Susan occasionally forgets where they put their keys or glasses and struggles to remember names. However, they can recall the information later in the day.



### Scenario 2

Jeff has trouble balancing their checkbook and frequently forgets to pay bills on time. They struggle to comprehend financial statements.

### Scenario 3

Katherine repeatedly asks the same question in a short period, seemingly forgetting previous answers.

### Scenario 4

Ben often gets disoriented and takes a wrong turn while driving in familiar neighborhoods.

### Scenario 5

Manny was once outgoing and sociable. Now he has been increasingly withdrawn, showing signs of social apathy and disinterest.





# How to support someone in the early stages

- Open communication
- Lifestyle adjustments
- Community participation
- Cognitive stimulation

### Moderate stages

- · More noticeable cognitive impairment
- Assistance with ADLs
- Self-neglect
- Communication difficulties
- Word finding
- Behaviors



# How to support someone in the moderate stages

- Establish a consistent and predictable routine
- Use simple and clear language
- Take safety measures for mobility

### **Advanced Stages**

- More dependent for all care
- Verbal communication becomes non-existent
- Bed bound
- May still have episodes insight

# How to support someone in the advanced stages

- Prioritize comfort and dignity
- Adjust care plans
- Gentle tones for reassurance



# False. Dementia manifests differently in each person.

Embrace the individuality of each person to promote compassion and respect.



Prioritizing healthy aging not only can reduce dementia risk but also enhances overall well-being.









# Appendix F

# **Example of Lecture Material from Week 2**










































# How do individuals living in the early stages of dementia

early stages of dementia participate in occupational engagement? Forms of Occupational Engagement: Cognitive Activities - Brain Games • Scrabble • Mad Libs • A to Z Word Associations + + + +

+ + +

Let's	Try It! -	A to Z W	ord Associat	ions
Cate	ory: Food			
A	н	0	V	
в	1	P	W	
C	J	Q	X	
D	K	R	Y	
E	L	S	Z	
F	M	Т		
G	N	U		
+ + +	Ē			$\checkmark$



## Appendix G

## **Example of Lecture Material from Week 3**

Communication Strategies & Dementia Care

Week 3, February 29th, 2024



	Agenda	6
01	Importance of Communication	
02	Applying Communication Strategies	















#### **Effective Communication**

#### Things to consider...

- Find the right pace when you speak
- Invite and thank the person when participating
- Problem solve together



- Say their name first
- Get at eye-level
- Gestures
- Lower eye contact
- Smile

#### **Effective Communication**

#### Ways to Simplify Your Communication

- Ask one question at a time
- Provide choices
- Repeat
- Use cues if needed
- Ask yes/no questions



















Your friend living with dementia is repeating the same question, not remembering the answer you gave a few minutes ago.

How would you ask, encourage, and acknowledge?

#### **Spaced Retrieval**

- Memory enhancement technique
- Involves repeated the information and behavior over . increasing intervals of time
- GOAL: To retain and recall information for adults with memory challenges

### **Spaced Retrieval**

- Rooted in:
- Classical conditioning: forming an association between to stimuli
- Spacing effect: when information is retained more when learning is spaced out over time
- Errorless learning: teaches correct information without making you feel like you make mistakes
- Priming: activates particular representations in memory before carrying out a task - don't have to necessarily remember

#### Spaced Retrieval: Directions

- Choose the specific . information, task, or skills
- Assess the individual's . baseline about the task, skill, or information
- Create clear instructions or prompts
- Start with short intervals (i.e., few
- seconds)
- Provide immediate feedback Gradually increase
- . intervals Encourage .
  - independence

.

- Use visual aids if
- needed Positive reinforcement .
- Space out sessions





Are you ready for an origami exercise?

First, watch the video as is.

Then, follow my instructions as we follow along to the video.





Act	tivities
Exercise Routine	Dressing
Personal Care Routines	Building a Sandwich
Baking Cookies	Puzzle Assembly
Direction to Home	Art

## Appendix H

## **Example of Lecture Material from Week 4**







of another person

another











- "Close your eyes and imagine the forest. What sounds do you hear? Can you smell the fresh air or feel the cool breeze?"
- "Did you ever visit a forest or wooded area? What memories do you have from that experience? Can you describe the colors, sounds, or smells you remember?"
- you remember?" "Imagine the forest in different seasons. How does it look during spring, summer, fall, or winter? What changes do you notice in the colors of the leaves or the activities of the animals?"





One person will be the caretaker and the other will be roleplaying as an individual living with dementia.

### 

#### Scenario 1: Dressing & Grooming

The individual living with dementia is having difficulties with putting on a button down shirt and pants due to confusion about clothing items, fine motor skills, and forgetfulness about the order of how to dress.



## Scenario 2: Baking Cookies

Setting: In a cozy kitchen, the caregiver (C) is teaching the person living with dementia (D) how to bake cookies.

Act out this scenario and identify some challenges that D might have. Use empathic curiosity when addressing these challenges.







## **Appendix I**

## **Example of Lecture Material from Week 5**



Agenda	
O1 Aging in Place	02 Environmental Design
03 Dementia-Friendly Communities	



True or False: The diagnosis of dementia automatically results in being admitted into an assisted living facility.





#### Aging in Place: Challenges

- Safety & accessibility concerns
- Lack of check ups
- Lack of transportation
- Social isolation, loneliness



#### **Strategies**

#### Individual Level

- Become educated in the support systems you have
- Advocate for
- others

#### **Community Level**

- Addressing accessibility, mobility, supportive services
- Creating supportive, built environments

#### Aging in Place Challenges for Cognitive Decline

- Memory decline
- Emotional challenges
- Social isolation
- Difficulty with mobility and physical tasks
- Activities of Daily Living/complex tasks
- Lack of educational resources

#### Aging in Place with Dementia

#### Although challenging, aging in place with dementia can be possible with the right support

systems in place.

- Being familiar with surroundings
- Feeling safe
- Opportunities to take care of oneself



#### Overview of Environmental Design Principles

#### The environment should...

- Create a familiar place
- Reduce risk
- Allow people to be seen
- Differentiate between helpful and unhelpful stimuli
- Be structured and stable
- Have environmental routines
- Promote recollection





#### Ways to Make Your Home Dementia-Friendly

#### 1. Better lighting

- a. Open curtains in the home
- b. Night light / sensor lights
- 2. Carpets/cushions absorb background noise
- 3. Safe flooring
- a. Avoid rugs or mats
- 4. Contrasting colors
- 5. Remove mirrors

#### Ways to Make Your Home Dementia-Friendly (continued)

#### 6. Labels and signs

- Clear and straightforward
- Have an appropriate picture
- Slightly lower than normal
- See through cupboards



# Ways to Make Your Home Dementia-Friendly (continued) Home Modificat 7. Household items Digital clocks • Digital clocks Reminder devices with audio prompt • Smooth edge tables Grab Bars

(NHS, 2022)





### Other Tips

- Consider the layout of the home
- Signage is secondary
- Consider dividers
- Declutter the environment

#### Using the Environment to Engage in Meaningful Occupations

- Bringing in objects like sand, seashells, or other items
- Taking a short walk in a familiar location
- Providing a change of scenery by taking the
- senior outdoors
- Brushing their hair, trimming their nails, or going all out with a full spa treatment







#### How to be dementia friendly:

- Things to consider:1. What is the setting?2. What are the types of behaviors you might encounter?

- encounter?
  3. What are the possible causes of this behavior?
  a. Cognitive?
  b. Psychological?
  c. Physical or Motor?
  4. What are ways I can provide support?

Setting: Grocery Store - Checking Out	Behavior	Possible causes of the behavior (cognitive, psychological, physical?)	What are ways I can help?
	Misunderst anding the payment	Cognitive - impaired comprehension Physical - hearing impairment	Count money with the person; tell them or write down the correct amount
	Attempting to leave without paying	Cognitive - Impaired memory, attention deficit	Speak in a calm tone

.

	Behavior	Possible causes of the behavior (cognitive, psychological, physical?)	What are ways I can help?
Setting: Grocery Store -	Having trouble rememberi ng the way	Cognitive - topographical disorientation, impaired memory	Suggest the person to call their family to get picked up Help the person recall the way
Leaving	home		home. If difficult, contact the police

Appendix J

**Informed Consent** 

# UNIV

## **Department of Brain Health – Occupational Therapy**

## Title of Study: UNDERSTANDING DEMENTIA THROUGH OCCUPATIONAL ENGAGEMENT

Investigator(s): Samantha John, PhD; Cynthia Lee, OTD/S

For questions or concerns about the study, you may contact Dr. Samantha John at 702-895-4580. For questions regarding the rights of research subjects any complaints or comments regarding the manner in which the study is being conducted, contact the UNLV Office of Research Integrity – Human Subjects at 702-895-0020 or via email at IRB@unlv.edu.

It is unknown as to the level of risk of transmission of COVID-19 if you decide to participate in this research study. The research activities will utilize accepted guidance standards for mitigating the risks of COVID-19 transmission: however, the chance of transmission cannot be eliminated.

Purpose of the Study

You are invited to participate in two surveys. The purpose of these surveys is to see if the contents of the program played a role in increasing positive attitudes about Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementia (ADRD) and those living with ADRD.

## **Participants**

You are being asked to participate in completing the surveys because of your willingness to participate in completing these surveys as part of the program.

## **Procedures**

If you volunteer to participate in these surveys, you will be asked to do the following: Complete the Dementia Attitudes Scale (DAS) before and after the program

The DAS is a questionnaire that you will be asked to complete as a part of the program. The DAS is a questionnaire that seeks to understand your thoughts and feelings about dementia. It consists of questions regarding your opinions and attitudes toward dementia. It is important to note that there are no right or wrong answers for any of these surveys. We kindly request that you provide your honest thoughts and feelings in your response

There are no right or wrong answers for any of these surveys. Please provide your honest thoughts and feelings.

At the end of the survey, the DAS will have a short section for demographic information. No identifiable information will be obtained. You are not required to complete this section if you choose not to.

Complete a feedback survey about the program itself at the end of the last session.

This is a 10-item short-answer questionnaire that will ask you about the contents of the program.

## **Benefits of Participation**

There may not be direct benefits to you as a participant in these surveys. However, we hope that your participation may be a valuable learning experience for you.

**Risks of Participation** 

There are risks involved in all research studies. Completing this survey may include only minimal risks. Surveys will be administered via hard copy forms in the course. Additionally, you may feel some discomfort answering the questions. However, surveys are anonymous and you are encouraged to be honest about your own feelings and experiences.

## **Confidentiality**

All information gathered from this survey be kept as confidential as possible. All hard copy records will be stored in a locked filing cabinet within a locked room at UNLV.

## **Voluntary Participation**

Your participation in this survey is voluntary. You may refuse to complete the surveys at any point of the program. You may withdraw at any time without prejudice to your relations with UNLV. You are encouraged to ask questions the program and surveys at the beginning or at any time during this program.

## Participant Consent

I have read the above information and agree to participate in this program. I have been able to ask questions about the program. I am at least 18 years of age. A copy of this form has been given to me.

Signature of Participant:

Date:

Participant Name (Please Print):

#### References

- Alzheimer's Association. (2023). *Alzheimer's and dementia*. Alzheimer's Association. https://www.alz.org/alzheimer\_s\_dementia
- Alzheimer's Society. (n.d.). Dementia Friendly Environment Checklist. https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/get-involved/dementia-friendlyresources/organisations/dementia-friendly-environment-checklist
- American Occupational Therapy Association. (2020). Occupational therapy practice framework:
   Domain and process (4th ed.). *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74(2),
   7412410010. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2020.74S2001
- Ashworth, R., Bassett, Z., Webb, J., & Savage, S. (2022). Risk, worry and motivation: How is public knowledge of dementia shaped? *Dementia*, 21(3), 851-861. doi:10.1177/14713012211064740
- Bacsu, J., Johnson, S., Megan E O'Connell, Viger, M., Muhajarine, N., Hackett, P., Jeffery, B., Novik, N., & McIntosh, T. (2022). Stigma reduction interventions of dementia: A scoping review. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 41(2), 203-213. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0714980821000192
- Black, M. H., Milbourn, B., Desjardins, K., Sylvester, V., Parrant, K., & Buchanan, A. (2019).
  Understanding the meaning and use of occupational engagement: Findings from a scoping review. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *82*(5), 272-287.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022618821580
- Brittain, K., Corner, L., Robinson, L., & Bond, J. (2010). Ageing in place and technologies of place: the lived experience of people with dementia in changing social, physical and

technological environments. *Sociology of Health & Illness, 32*(2), 272-287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9566.2009.01203.x

- Burgener, S. C., Buckwalter, K., Perkhounkova, Y., Liu, M. F., Riley, R., Einhorn, C. J., Fitzsimmons, S., & Hahn-Swanson, C. (2015). Perceived stigma in persons with earlystage dementia: Longitudinal findings: Part 1. *Dementia (London, England)*, 14(5), 589-608. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301213508399
- Cahill, S., Pierce, M., Werner, P., Darley, A., & Bobersky, A. (2015). A systematic review of the public's knowledge and understanding of Alzheimer's disease and dementia. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders, 29*(3), 255-275,

https://doi.org/10.1097/WAD.000000000000102

- Carpenter, B.D., Balsis, S., Otilingam, P. G., Handson, P. K., & Gatz, M. (2009). The Alzheimer's Disease Knowledge Scale: Development and psychometric properties. *Gerontology*, 49(2), 236-247.
- Cations, M., Radisic, G., Crotty, M., & Laver, K. (2018). What does the general public understand about prevention and treatment of dementia? A systematic review of population-based surveys. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(4), Article e0196085. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0196085
- Catt, M., & Giridharan, R. (2018). The Reality of well-being-focused design in dementia care: A case study of acute dementia wards in the United Kingdom. *HERD*, 11(4), 130–149. https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586718779172
- Chang, C. Y., & Hsu, H. C. (2020). Relationship between knowledge and types of attitudes towards people living with dementia. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 17(11), 3777. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113777

- Cheston, R., Hancock, J., & White, P. (2016). A cross-sectional investigation of public attitudes toward dementia in Bristol and South Gloucestershire using the approaches to dementia questionnaire. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 28(10), 1717-1724. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610216000843
- Cuadrado, F., Antolí, A., & Fernández-Calvo, B. (2022). The effect of framing on attitudes towards Alzheimer's disease: A comparative study between younger and older adults.
   *PLOS ONE, 17*(7), Article e0270959. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0270959
- Darlington, N., Arthur, A., Woodward, M., Buckner, S., Killett, A., Lafortune, L., Mathie, E., Mayrhofer, A., Thurman, J., & Goodman, C. (2021). A survey of the experience of living with dementia in a dementia-friendly community. *Dementia (London, England), 20*(5), 1711-1722. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301220965552
- Han, A., Radel, J., McDowd, J. M., & Sabata, D. (2015). Perspectives of people with dementia about meaningful activities. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease &Other Dementias*, 31(2), 115-123. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317515598857
- Hynes, S. M., Field, B., Ledgerd, R., Swinson, T., Wenborn, J., di Bona, L., Moniz-Cook, E.,
  Poland, F., & Orrell, M. (2016). Exploring the need for a new UK occupational therapy intervention for people with dementia and family carers: Community Occupational
  Therapy in Dementia (COTiD). A focus group study. *Aging & mental health*, 20(7), 762–769. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1037243
- Hung, L., Leitch, S., Hung, R., & Phinney, A. (2020). Creating dementia-friendly and inclusive communities for social inclusion: A scoping review protocol. *BMJ Open*, 10(6), Article e035028. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035028

- Jackson, J., Carlson, M., Mandel, D., Zemke, R., & Clark, F. (1998). Occupation in lifestyle redesign: the Well Elderly Study Occupational Therapy Program. *The American journal* of Occupational Therapy, 52(5), 326–336. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.52.5.326
- Joo, S. H., Jo, I. S., Kim, H. J., & Lee, C. U. (2021). Factors associated with dementia knowledge and dementia worry in the South Korean elderly population. *Psychiatry Investigation*, 18(12), 1198–1204. https://doi.org/10.30773/pi.2021.0295
- Kessler, Bowen, C. E., Baer, M., Froelich, L., & Wahl, H.-W. (2012). Dementia worry: A psychological examination of an unexplored phenomenon. *European Journal of Ageing*, 9(4), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-012-0242-8
- Kielsgaard, K., Andersen, P. T., Horghagen, S., Nielsen, D., Hansen, M. H., & Kristensen, H. K. (2022). Enhancing engagement in meaningful occupation in a dementia town: A qualitative evaluation of MOED The meaningful occupational engagement intervention for people with dementia. *Dementia (London, England), 21*(3), 731–750. https://doi.org/10.1177/14713012211053986
- Kielsgaard, K., Horghagen, S., Nielsen, D. S., & Kristensen, H. K. (2020). Approaches to engaging people with dementia in meaningful occupations in institutional settings: A scoping review. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 28(5), 329-347. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2020.1791952
- Kim, J., Tak, S. H., Ko, H., Jung, S., Lee, J., & Choi, H. (2022). Effects of a 6-week integrated dementia awareness and prevention program for community-dwelling older adults. SAGE Open, 12(3). https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440221123503
- Koh W. Q., Chia Y. L., Ng W. X., Lim F. Y. Q., Cheung T. W. C. (2021). Patterns of occupational engagement among community-dwelling older adults in Singapore: An

exploratory mixed method study. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 85(1), 68–77. https://doi-org.ezproxy.library.unlv.edu/10.1177/03080226211008048

- Lathren, C. R., Sloane, P. D., Hoyle, J. D., Zimmerman, S., & Kaufer, D. I. (2013). Improving dementia diagnosis and management in primary care: a cohort study of the impact of a training and support program on physician competency, practice patterns, and community linkages. *BMC Geriatrics*, 13(1), 1-7.
- Lawler, K., Kitsos, A., Bindoff, A. D., Callisaya, M. L., Eccleston, C. E. A., & Doherty, K. V. (2021). Room for improvement: An online survey of allied health professionals' dementia knowledge. *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, *40*(2), 195–201. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajag.12886
- Lawler, P. A. (1991). The keys to adult learning: Theory and practical strategies. Research for Better Schools, Inc.
- Lee, S., Jeong, H., Koh, I. S., Suh, J., Cho, H., Kim, Y., Cho, E., Chang, J. G., Hong, M., & Lee, S. Y. (2023). Association of knowledge about dementia with two dimensional attitudes among a community population in South Korea. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, 92(2), 565–572. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-220736
- Leland, N. E., & Elliott, S. J. (2012). Special issue on productive aging: Evidence and opportunities for occupational therapy practitioners. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 66(3), 263–265. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2010.005165
- Lespinasse, J., Dufouil, C., & Proust-Lima, C. (2023). Disease progression model anchored around clinical diagnosis in longitudinal cohorts: Example of Alzheimer's disease and related dementia. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 23(199). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-023-02009-0

Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., Brayne, C., Burns, A., Cohen-Mansfield, J., Cooper, C., Costafreda, S. G., Dias, A., Fox, N., Gitlin, L. N., Howard, R., Kales, H. C., Kivimäki, M., Larson, E. B., Ogunniyi, A., Orgeta, V., ... Mukadam, N. (2020). *Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. Lancet (London, England), 396*(10248), 413–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6

- Low, L. F., & Purwaningrum, F. (2020). Negative stereotypes, fear and social distance: A systematic review of depictions of dementia in popular culture in the context of stigma. *BMC Geriatrics*, 20(477). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01754-x
- Lundgren, A. S., Atler, K., & Nilsson, I. (2020). Negotiating occupation: How older people make sense of the concept of "occupation." *Journal of Occupational Science*, 27(2), 236–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/14427591.2020.1731845
- Maclean, F., Warren, A., Hunter, E., & Wescott, L. (2022). Starting a conversation:
  Occupational therapy and dementia. *Alzheimer's Disease International*.
  https://www.alzint.org/news-events/news/starting-a-conversation-occupational-therapy-and-dementia/
- Marx, K., Scott, J. B., Piersol, C. V., & Gitlin, L. N. (2019). Tailored activities to reduce neuropsychiatric behaviors in persons with dementia: case report. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 73(2), 7302205160p1-7302205160p9. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2019.029546
- Maki Y., & Endo, H. (2018). The contribution of occupational therapy to building a dementia-positive community. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*. 81(10), 566-570.
  doi:10.1177/0308022618774508

- Matsumoto, H., Maeda, A., Igarashi, A., Weller, C., & Yamamoto-Mitani, N. (2021). Dementia education and training for the general public: A scoping review. *Gerontology & Geriatrics Education*, 44(2), 154-184, https://doi.org/10.1080/02701960.2021.1999938
- McGrath, & O'Callaghan, C. (2014). Occupational therapy and dementia care: A survey of practice in the Republic of Ireland. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 61(2), 92– 101. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12081
- Menichetti, J., Cipresso, P., Bussolin, D., & Graffigna, G. (2016). Engaging older people in healthy and active lifestyles: A systematic review. *Ageing and Society*, 36(10), 2036-2060. doi:10.1017/S0144686X15000781
- Morgan-Brown, M., Brangan, J., McMahon, R., & Murphy, B. (2019). Engagement and social interaction in dementia care settings: A call for occupational and social justice. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 27(2), 400–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/hsc.12658
- Motealleh, P., Moyle, W., Jones, C., & Dupre, K. (2019). Creating a dementia-friendly environment through the use of outdoor natural landscape design intervention in longterm care facilities: A narrative review. *Health Place*, 58, 102148. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.102148
- National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. (n.d.). Focus on Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias. National Institutes of Health. https://www.ninds.nih.gov/currentresearch/focus-disorders/focus-alzheimers-disease-and-related-dementias
- Newton, C., Hadjistavropoulos, T., Gallant, N. L., & MacNab, Y. C. (2021). Age differences in attitudes about older adults with dementia. *Ageing & Society*, 41(1), 121-136. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0144686X19000965

- Nguyen, T., & Li, X. (2020). Understanding public-stigma and self-stigma in the context of dementia: A systematic review of the global literature. *Dementia (London, England)*, 19(2), 148–181. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301218800122
- O'Connor, & McFadden, S. H. (2009). Development and psychometric validation of the Dementia Attitudes Scale. *International Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.4061/2010/454218
- Odzakovic, E., Hellström, I., Nedlund, A. C., & Kullberg, A. (2021). Health promotion initiative: A dementia-friendly local community in Sweden. *Dementia*, 20(6), 1971–1987. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301220977736
- Phillipson, L., Hall, D., Cridland, E., Fleming, R., Brennan-Horley, C., Guggisberg, N., Frost, D., Hasan, H. (2019). Involvement of people with dementia in raising awareness and changing attitudes in a dementia friendly community pilot project. *Gerontology & Geriatric Medicine, 18*(7-8), 2679-2694. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301218754455
- Polatajko, H.J., Townsend, E.A., & Craik, J. (2007). Canadian Model of Occupational
  Performance and Engagement (CMOP-E). In E.A. Townsend & H.J. Polatajko (Eds.),
  Enabling Occupation II: Advancing an Occupational Therapy Vision for Health, Wellbeing, & Justice through Occupation (22-36). CAOT Publications ACE.
- Rosato, M., Leavey, G., Cooper, J., De Cock, P., Devine, P. (2019). Factors associated with public knowledge of and attitudes to dementia: A cross-sectional study. *PLOS ONE*, 14(2), e0210543. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0210543
- Rosenberg, A., Mangialasche, F., Ngandu, T., Solomon, A., & Kivipelto, M. (2020). Multidomain interventions to prevent cognitive impairment, Alzheimer's disease, and

dementia: From FINGER to world-wide FINGERS. *The Journal of Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease*, *7*(1), 29–36.

- Schütze, H., Shell, A., & Brodaty, H. (2018). Development, implementation, and evaluation of Australia's first national continuing medical education program for the timely diagnosis and management of dementia in general practice. *BMC Medical Education*, 18(194). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-018-1295-y
- Soilemezi, D., Kallitsis, P., Drahota, A., Crossland, J., Stores, R., & Costall, A. (2017). The Impact of the Physical Home Environment for Family Carers of People with Dementia: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of Housing For the Elderly*, *31*(4), 303–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/02763893.2017.1335666
- Sperling, R., Aisen, P. S., Beckett, L. A., Bennett, D. A., Craft, S., Fagan, A. M., Iwatsubo, T., Jack, C. R., Kaye, J., Montine, T. J., Park, D. C., Reiman, E. M., Rowe, C. C., Siemers, E., Stern, Y., Yaffe, K., Carrillo, M. C., Thies, B., Morrison-Bogorad, M., & Wagster, M. V. (2011). Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease:
  Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 7(3), 280–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2011.03.003
- Stav, W. B., Hallenen, T., Lane, J., & Arbesman, M. (2012). Systematic review of occupational engagement and health outcomes among community-dwelling older adults. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy: Official Publication of the American Occupational Therapy Association, 66*(3), 301–310.
- Teitelman, J., Raber, C., & Watts, J. (2010). The power of the social environment in motivating persons with dementia to engage in occupation: Qualitative findings. *Physical* &

*Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics, 28*(4), 321-333. https://doi.org/10.3109/02703181.2010.532582

- Toit, S. H. J., Shen, X., & McGrath, M. (2018). Meaningful engagement and person-centered residential dementia care: A critical interpretive synthesis. *Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 26(5), 343-355. https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2018.1441323
- Wenborn, J., Hynes, S., Moniz-Cook, E., Mountain, G., Poland, F., King, M., Omar, R., Morris, S., Vernooij-Dassen, M., Challis, D., Michie, S., Russell, I., Sackley, C., Graff, M., O'Keeffe, A., Crellin, N., & Orrell, M. (2016). Community occupational therapy for people with dementia and family carers (COTiD-UK) versus treatment as usual (Valuing Active Life in Dementia [VALID] programme): Study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials*, 17(65). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1150-y
- Wimo, A., Seeher, K., Cataldi, R., Cyhlarova, E., Dielemann, J. L., Frisell, O., Guerchet, M., Jönsson, L., Malaha, A. K., Nichols, E., Pedroza, P., Prince, M., Knapp, M., & Dua, T. (2023). The worldwide costs of dementia in 2019. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 19(7), 2865–2873. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12901
- Wolfe, S. E., Greenhill, B., Butchard, S., & Day, J. (2021). The meaning of autonomy when living with dementia: A Q-method investigation. *Dementia (London, England)*, 20(6), 1875–1890. https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301220973067
- World Health Organization. (2023). Dementia. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia
- Wu, J., Leong, S. M., Che, S. L., Van, I. K., & Chuang, Y. C. (2022). Comparisons of dementia knowledge and attitudes among the youth and older adults: Insights from the construal

level theory perspective. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 19(4), 1928. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19041928

Xidous, D., Grey, T., Kennelly, S. P., McHale, C., & O'Neill, D. (2020). Dementia friendly hospital design: Key issues for patients and accompanying persons in an Irish acute care Public Hospital. *HERD*, *13*(1), 48–67. https://doi.org/10.1177/1937586719845120

## **Curriculum Vitae**

## Cynthia Lee

Email: cynthialee0202@gmail.com

## University of Nevada, Las Vegas Occupational Therapy Doctorate Program

Capstone Title: Understanding Dementia Through Occupational Engagement: A Dementia Awareness Program for Community Adults Faculty Mentor: Dr. Samantha John, Ph.D.

University of Nevada, Las Vegas	May 2021
Bachelor of Science in Kinesiology	

## **Research Experience**

Education

## Graduate Research Assistant

- Department of Nursing, University of Nevada, Las Vegas
  - Assisted nursing associate professor in conducting sports-related research
  - Assisted in study protocol focusing on the relationship between mental health and body balance
  - Conducted literature review related to saccadic eye movements among sports-concussion athletes
  - Assisted in the preparation and submission of research findings for publication in peerreviewed academic journals

## **Teaching and Mentoring Experience**

## Graduate Teaching Assistant

Department of Online General Education, University of Nevada, Las Vegas

- Developed a course inventory for DAN 101 online course
- Developed University Undergraduate Learning Outcome assessments
- Collaborated with the course instructor to develop engaging and informative course materials, including lecture notes, readings, and multimedia content
- Developed a comprehensive course syllabus, outlining course objectives, grading policies, and assignment schedules

## **Related Experience**

## Level 2 Fieldwork

## Silver State Pediatrics

Setting: Pediatric Skilled Nursing Facility

• Applied developmental milestone knowledge into treatment plan

2022

May 2023-August 2023

2022-2023

May 2024

• Collaborated with nursing, physical, & respiratory therap	ру
Dignity Health, St. Rose Dominican Hospital	May 2022-August 2022
Setting: Acute Hospital (Medical-Surgical, ICU, Orthopedic)	
• Conducted OT evaluation and treatment in medical-surg emergency floors	ical, ICU, orthopedic, and
• Developed clinical skill in conducting evaluation and tre	atment plans in acute setting
Level 1 Fieldwork	
The Garden Foundation	September 2023
Setting: Community Adults	
Silver State Pediatrics	February 2023
Setting: Pediatric Skilled Nursing Facility	
Cornerstone Christian Academy	October 2022
Setting: Pediatric Community	
Centennial Hills Hospital	March 2022
Setting: Acute	
Nevada Senior Services	November 2021
Setting: Adult Daycare	
Student Organization	
Social Media Chair	2022-2023
• Operated and maintained the organization's social media pro-	esence across various platforms
• Boosted the organization's digital footprint by expanding th	e follower base

• Worked with clientele with rare medical conditions

- Fostered interactive relationships with related community accounts to enhance visibility and engagement
- Amplified the reach of student activities to the broader community through strategic social media campaigns

## **Student Organization**

## Social Media Chair

- Operated and maintained the organization's social media presence across various platforms
- Boosted the organization's digital footprint by expanding the follower base
- Fostered interactive relationships with related community accounts to enhance visibility and engagement
- Amplified the reach of student activities to the broader community through strategic social media campaigns

## **Services**

## **Dementia Friends Champion**

Raising awareness to change attitudes through Dementia Friends Session

**References** 

Available upon request.

## 2022-2023

since August 2023